5

C

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from the Superior Court of
Jasper County, South Carolina

Referee Benjamin CP Sapp
2015-CP-27-00524

Appellant Case No. 2017-002286

DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY, as Trustee for GSAA Home Equity Trust
2006-17, Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2006-17,
Respondent,


vs.

LOUISE LEGARE GARDNER; One West Bank, National Association s/b/m to INDYMACK
BANK, F.S.B.,
Defendant's

Of which Louise Legare Gardner is the Appellant.

APPELLANT'S AMENDED FINAL BRIEF

Submitted this 7th day of November, 2018



Louise Legare Gardner
Appellant in *Propria Persona*
c/o P. O. Box 3443
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910

TABLE OF CITATIONS

3

Stanley Smith & Sons, Inc. v. Limestone College, 283 S.C. 430, 322 S.E.2d 474 (Ct. App. 1984)

Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 660, 582 S.E.2d 432, 439 (Ct. App. 2003)

Carolina Amusement Co. v. Connecticut Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 313 S.C. 215, 220, 437 S.E.2d 122, 125 (Ct. App. 1993).

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 50 cmt. c (1981); Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth., 354 S.C. 397, 405, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003)

Timmons v. McCutcheon, 284 S.C. 4, 9-10, 324 S.E.2d 319, 322 (Ct. App. 1984).

Gladden v. Keistler, 141 S.C. 524, 140 S.E. 161

Bulwinkle v. Cramer, 27 S.C. 376, 3 S.E. 776, 13 Am. St. Rep. 645. In 6 R.C.L. 17 Am. Jur.2d, Contracts, section 70, at page 408.

Hughes v. Edwards, 265 S.C. 529, 220 S.E.2d 231 (1975).

Barber-Paschal Lumber Co. v. Boushall, 168 N.C. 501, 84 S.E. 800.

McClintock v. Skelly Oil Co., 232 Mo. App. 1204, 114 S.W.2d 181 (Mo. Ap. 1938).

Hudepohl Brewing Co. v. Bannister, 45 F. Supp. 201, 203 (D.S.C. 1943)

Edens v. Laurel Hill, Inc., 271 S.C. 360, 247 S.E.2d 434 (1978)

Morgan v. Honeycutt, 277 S.C. 150, 283 S.E.2d 444 (1981)

Wakefield v. Spoon, 100 S.C. 100, 84 S.E. 418 (1915).

Barry v. Atlas Metals, Inc., 152 Ga. App. 437, 263 S.E.2d 179 (1979).

American Oil, 298 F. Supp. At 534

Rural Plumbing & Heating Inc. v. Hope Dale Realty, Inc., 140 S.E.2d 330 (N.C. 1965)

Northern Va. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. J.B. Kendall Co., 135 S.E.2d 178 (Va. 1964).

Tupper v. Dorchester County, 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997).

Butts v. AVX Corp., 292 S.C. 256, 355 S.E.2d 876 (Ct.App. 1987).

Summer v. Carpenter, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997)

Hamiter v. Retirement Div. of South Carolina, 326 S.C. 93, 484 S.E.2d 586 (1997)

City of Columbia v. American Civil Liberties Union, 323 S.C. 384, 475 S.E.2d 747 (1996).

10B Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil 3d § 2738 (1998).

George v. Fabri, 345 S.C. 440, 452, 548 S.E.2d 868, 874 (2001)

Tharpe v. G.E. Moore Co., 254 S.C. 196, 201, 174 S.E.2d 397, 399 (1970).

Statutes & Rules

South Carolina Code Sections 15-39-650 through 15-39-660, and

South Carolina Code Sections 29-3-630 through 29-3-790

Rule 56(c), SCRPC

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for abuse of discretion is *de novo*.

A court abuses its discretion if its decision is not reasonably supported by any competent evidence in the record, or if the court has misconstrued or misapplied applicable law.

The trial court abused its discretion because its decision to deny a trial to the appellant was not reasonably supported by competent evidence in the record, or the court had misconstrued or misapplied applicable law, or both.

FACTUAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE

6

NOTICE IS GIVEN that Louise Legare Gardner, Appellant in this proceeding, hereby filed this appeal from the Superior Court of Jasper County, South Carolina, to the Court of Appeals from the order of the trial court denying appellant's request for a fair trial as it was contested. Refusing a trial was not proper as there were genuine issues of material fact, in dispute and the appellee was not entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (See: *Appellant's table of content - Transcript pages 33 - 40 lines 1-25*)

The appellee sued the appellant to foreclose on her home. The appellee obtained judgment without a trial and without meeting its burden of proof and in fact, without providing one word of evidence. The exhibits conflicted with the pleading and the jurisdictional challenge was never answered.

A court abuses its discretion if its decision is not reasonably supported by any competent evidence in the record or if the court has misconstrued or misapplied applicable law. The trial court abused its discretion because its decision to deny a trial to the appellant when contested and not reasonably supported by competent evidence in the record, or the court had misconstrued or misapplied applicable law or both. The plaintiff obtained summary judgment which denied Louise Legare Gardner her day in court because the plaintiff never had to prove anything at all, and used forged and counterfeit (2) copies of instruments as a basis of claim without meeting its burden of proof and in fact without proving one word of evidence, thereby allowing the appellee to evade the scrutiny of truth that the rules require. The rules required a trial under the circumstances, the rules of evidence that are designed to protect people against this kind of conduct and abuse from debt collectors trying to steal private property.

The appellee never produced one word of evidence and no witness to authenticate any documentary evidence or make any statements that would be considered evidentiary. The appellee failed to meet its burden of truth and the pleadings failed to invoke the jurisdiction of the court.

The applicable law of this case is set forth in the case of *Stanley Smith & Sons, Inc. v. Limestone College*, 283 S.C. 430, 322 S.E.2d 474 (Ct. App. 1984); from this case we quote: A contract is an obligation which arises from actual agreement of the parties manifested by words, oral or written, or by conduct. If the agreement is manifested by words, the contract is said to be express. If it is manifested by conduct, it is said to be implied. In either case, the parties must manifest a mutual intent to be bound. Without the actual agreement of the parties, there is no contract. An implied contract, like an express contract, rests on an actual agreement of the parties to be bound to a particular undertaking. The parties must manifest their mutual assent to all essential terms of the contract in order for an enforceable obligation to exist. If one of the parties has not agreed, then a prerequisite to formation of the contract is lacking. [Citations omitted.] 283 S.C. at 433-434, 322 S.E.2d at 477.

"A contract is an obligation which arises from actual agreement of the parties manifested by words, oral or written, or by conduct." *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 660, 582 S.E.2d 432, 439 (Ct. App. 2003) (citations omitted).

The necessary elements of a contract are offer, acceptance, and valuable consideration. *Carolina Amusement Co. v. Connecticut Nat'l Life Ins. Co.*, 313 S.C. 215, 220, 437 S.E.2d 122, 125 (Ct. App. 1993).

A typical contract contains mutual promises and is created by an acceptance constituting a return promise by the offeree. See *Restatement (Second) of Contracts* § 50 cmt. c (1981); *Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth.*, 354 S.C. 397, 405, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003) ("A bilateral contract... exists when both parties exchange mutual promises.").

Moreover, a contract only arises when there is an actual agreement by the parties in which the parties demonstrate a mutual intent to be bound. *Timmons v. McCutcheon*, 284 S.C. 4, 9-10, 324 S.E.2d 319, 322 (Ct. App. 1984).

The rule stated in *Gladden v. Keistler*, 141 S.C. 524, 140 S.E. 161, is here applicable. We quote therefrom the following: "It is not always necessary, in order to

give validity to a contract, that it should be signed by both parties; it may be sufficient if it be signed by one party and accepted, held, and acted upon by the other. See *Bulwinkle v. Cramer*, 27 S.C. 376, 3 S.E. 776, 13 Am. St. Rep. 645. In 6 R.C.L. at page 641, it is said: "But the fact that one of the parties has signed the contract does not require that the other party should do likewise. A written contract, not required to be in writing, is valid if one of the parties signs it and the other acquiesces therein. Acceptance of a contract by assenting to its terms, holding it and acting upon it, may be equivalent to a formal execution by one who did not sign it. . . . If a person accepts and adopts a written contract, even though it is not signed by him, he is deemed to have assented to its terms and conditions and to be bound by them." See also 17 Am. Jur.2d, Contracts, section 70, at page 408.

South Carolina common law requires that, in order to have a valid and enforceable contract, there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement. *Hughes v. Edwards*, 265 S.C. 529, 220 S.E.2d 231 (1975).

"A contract is the product of two or more consenting minds making a commitment about the same thing, binding on the parties at law or in equity. It is true that where there had been no meeting of the minds on the essentials of the treaty, no contract results. *Barber-Paschal Lumber Co. v. Boushall*, 168 N.C. 501, 84 S.E. 800.

This "meeting of minds" required to make a contract is not based on secret purpose or intention on the part of one of the parties, stored away in his mind and not brought to the attention of the other party, but must be based on purpose and intention which has been made known or which, from all the circumstances, should be known. *McClintock v. Skelly Oil Co.*, 232 Mo. App. 1204, 114 S.W.2d 181 (Mo. Ap. 1938).

"A contract of guaranty, like every other contract, can only be made by the mutual assent of the parties. If the guaranty is signed by the guarantor at the request of the other party, or if the latter's agreement is contemporaneous with the guaranty, . . . the mutual assent is proved, and the delivery of the guaranty to him or for his use

completes the contract." *Hudepohl Brewing Co. v. Bannister*, 45 F. Supp. 201, 203 (D.S.C. 1943) (emphasis added).

Mutual assent to all the essential terms of the agreement is necessary to the formation of a contract. *Edens v. Laurel Hill, Inc.*, 271 S.C. 360, 247 S.E.2d 434 (1978)

See *Stanley Smith & Sons v. Limestone College*, 283 S.C. 430, 322 S.E.2d 474 (Ct.App. 1984) (express contract is manifested by words, written or oral; implied contract is manifested by conduct but, as with an express contract, the conduct must demonstrate the parties' mutual assent to all essential terms of the contract); see also *Morgan v. Honeycutt*, 277 S.C. 150, 283 S.E.2d 444 (1981) (silence alone is not conduct constituting acceptance of an offer to contract).

The essential elements of an account stated are (1) that the account is actually stated; and (2) that the parties either expressly or impliedly agreed that it is a true statement and is due to be paid then or at some other specified time. *Wakefield v. Spoon*, 100 S.C. 100, 84 S.E. 418 (1915).

The execution of a note in payment of an open account operates to cut off all defenses to the account to which the maker then had knowledge where it is clear from the record the person knew or should have known the operative facts upon which the note was based. *Barry v. Atlas Metals, Inc.*, 152 Ga. App. 437, 263 S.E.2d 179 (1979).

The right of a creditor to apply a debtor's payments as it chooses, however, is qualified by the rule that where the creditor knows or should know the source of the funds from which it is paid, the creditor must, irrespective of the instructions of the debtor, apply those funds so as to protect the rights of the person supplying the funds. *American Oil*, 298 F. Supp. at 534; *Rural Plumbing & Heating Inc. v. Hope Dale Realty, Inc.*, 140 S.E.2d 330 (N.C. 1965); *Northern Va. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. J.B. Kendall Co.*, 135 S.E.2d 178 (Va. 1964).

Summary judgment is appropriate when "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRPC. See also *Tupper v.*

Dorchester County, 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997).

In addition, it must be shown that further inquiry into the facts is not needed to clarify the application of the law. *Butts v. AVX Corp.*, 292 S.C. 256, 355 S.E.2d 876 (Ct.App. 1987).

In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment. *Summer v. Carpenter*, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997); *Hamiter v. Retirement Div. of South Carolina*, 326 S.C. 93, 484 S.E.2d 586 (1997); *City of Columbia v. American Civil Liberties Union*, 323 S.C. 384, 475 S.E.2d 747 (1996).

The rule governing summary judgment provides that "[s]upporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein." Rule 56(e), SCRPC (emphasis added).

Rule 56(e) requires that affidavits: "[1] shall be made on personal knowledge, [2] shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and [3] shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein." Rule 56(e), SCRPC. "Few pleadings will satisfy these requirements, even when verified." 10B Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay Kane, *Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil 3d* § 2738 (1998).

"The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder." *George v. Fabri*, 345 S.C. 440, 452, 548 S.E.2d 868, 874 (2001).

Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. *Id.* at 112, 410 S.E.2d at 543.

Nonetheless, the nonmoving party must demonstrate the likelihood that further discovery will uncover additional relevant evidence and that the party is "not merely engaged in a 'fishing expedition.'" *Id.* at 112, 410 S.E.2d at 544.

Respondents are not permitted to simply rest on the allegations in their complaint, especially where, as here, the majority of the factual allegations are conclusory in nature. See Rule 56(e), SCRPC ("an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.").

"There exists in every contract an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing." *Tharpe v. G.E. Moore Co.*, 254 S.C. 196, 201, 174 S.E.2d 397, 399 (1970).

CONCLUSION

The trial court, at least abused its discretion in unfairly denying the appellant a trial, allowing the appellee to present forged and counterfeit instruments as a basis for its claim, and the appellant requests that the order reversing the trial court's order and remanding for further proceedings so that the matter can properly be set for trial.

Submitted
November 7, 2018


Louise Legare Gardner, Appellant

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves a contested foreclosure in which the appellee obtained judgment without a trial and the appellant was unfairly denied a trial, and both her Motions. The court should have held a trial in this case as it was contested and the appellee was unfairly allowed a judgment without proving any of its allegations. The appellant was unfairly denied her day in court. The court completely disregarded existing law in denying the (2) both Appellant's motions.

(See; Table of Content of Record of Appeal)

(And see TRANSCRIPT starting P 29 – review pages 33 - 40 lines 1-25)

This case involves a contested foreclosure in which the appellee obtained judgment without a trial and appellant's request for trial was unfairly denied. Refusing to hold a trial was not proper as there were genuine issues of material fact in dispute and the appellee was not entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

The allegations in the pleadings conflicted with the exhibits for the reason that the exhibits demonstrated a completely different set of facts than those alleged in the complaint. The exhibits demonstrated that the plaintiff was not the lender and had no interest in the claims alleged, or in the title to the appellant's property, for which the foreclosure was sought to obtain.

The appellee never produced one word of evidence and no witness to authenticate any documentary evidence or make any statements that would be considered evidentiary. The appellee failed to meet its burden of proof and the pleadings failed to invoke the jurisdiction of the court.