THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY  
Benjamin CP Sapp Court of Common Pleas

Case No: 2015-CP-27-00524

---

Appellant Case No: 2017-002286

---

**RECEIVED**

FEB 27 2018

SC Court of Appeals

DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST  
COMPANY, AS TRUSTEE FOR GSAA  
HOME-EQUITY TRUST 2006-17,  
ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES,  
SERIES 2006-17

Respondent.

V.

LOUISE LEGARE GARDNER

Appellant.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Michael C. Griffin (SC Bar No. 72868)  
Jonathan Schulz (SC Bar No. 79850)  
BRADLEY ARANT BOULT CUMMINGS LLP  
214 North Tryon Street, Suite 3700  
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202  
Telephone (704) 388-6000

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal is just the latest attempt by Gardner to delay resolution of this case and interfere with Deutsche Bank's legal right to sell the Property following her undisputed default under the Note and entry of the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment. Gardner's appeal is improper for a number of reasons.

*First*, Gardner challenges only the findings of the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment in her Initial Brief, but she never appealed this order that was entered nearly two years ago. As a result of her failure to appeal the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment, this Court is divested of subject matter jurisdiction under SCACR Rule 203(b), and Gardner's appeal must be dismissed.

*Second* (and irrespective of the fatal jurisdictional deficiencies on appeal), the trial court should be affirmed because Gardner is improperly seeking to re-open and belatedly attack the issues previously decided by Judge Sapp in the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment by appealing the Order Resetting Property Sale. However, Gardner's argument fails because Judge Sapp's findings in the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment became the "law of the case" following Gardner's failure to appeal that order and are no longer subject to appellate review.

*Finally*, Gardner notably makes no mention of the order purportedly being appealed -- the Order Resetting Property Sale -- anywhere in the argument of her Initial Brief. As a result, Gardner has waived her right to appellate review of this order under long-established South Carolina law.

## ARGUMENT

### I. Gardner's Failure to Appeal the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment Divests This Court of Subject Matter Jurisdiction and Requires Dismissal of Her Appeal.

“Rule 203(b), SCACR, requires a party to serve [her] notice of appeal within thirty days after receiving written entry of a final order or judgment, and failure to do so divests this court of subject matter jurisdiction and results in dismissal of the appeal.” *USAA Property & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 651, 661 S.E.2d 791, 795 (S.C. 2008) (quoting *Canal Ins. Co. v. Caldwell*, 338 S.C. 1, 4, 524 S.E.2d 416, 418 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999)). “The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, i.e., if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to ‘rescue’ the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.” *Id.* (quoting *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 14-15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (S.C. 2004)).

By her own admissions both at the Hearing and in her Initial Brief to this Court, Gardner is erroneously attempting to re-litigate *only* the issues and claims previously resolved at the April 2016 Trial and memorialized in the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment:

- “This is a contested foreclosure, and the Plaintiff has never proven anything and no evidence has been taken in the case ever. I was denied discovery, any evidentiary hearing and a trial, and no witness testified to the allegations in the complaint. Filing a piece of paper copy with, you know, with words on it is not evidence. There is no cross -- there was no cross-examination, no witnesses. So, what I request is my trial scheduling order. That’s what I’m here for today”. (September 5, 2017, Hearing Transcript at 10).
- “This case involves a contested foreclosure in which the appellee obtained judgment without a trial and appellant’s request for trial was unfairly denied. Refusing to hold a trial was not proper as there were genuine issues of material fact in dispute and the appellee was not entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” (Gardner Initial Brief, p. 1).
- “The allegations in the pleadings conflicted with the exhibits for the reason that the exhibits demonstrated a completely different set of facts that [sic] those alleged in the complaint. The exhibits demonstrated that the plaintiff was not the lender and had no interest in the claims alleged, or in the title to

the appellant's property, for which the foreclosure was sought to obtain.” (Gardner Initial Brief, p. 1).

- “The appellee never produced one word of evidence and no witness to authenticate any documentary evidence or make any statements that would be considered evidentiary. The appellee failed to meet its burden of proof and the pleadings failed to invoke the jurisdiction of the court.” (Gardner Initial Brief, p. 1).

But Gardner *never* appealed the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment, and instead improperly embarked on a (now 20 months and counting) odyssey of repeatedly stalling Deutsche Bank's legal right to sell the Property at every turn. First, she attempted to remove the case to federal court nearly five months after being served with the Complaint and 37 days *after* entry of the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment.<sup>2</sup> Then (following remand), she sought to enjoin the scheduled May 9, 2017 sale date by filing for Chapter 13 bankruptcy on May 4, 2017 -- a proceeding that lasted 34 days before being dismissed due to her failure to file the required documentation.

In short, Gardner has attempted every mechanism possible to forestall Deutsche Bank's sale of the Property, except for actually filing the notice of appeal necessary to pursue appellate review of the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment. As such, Gardner's appeal cannot now be “rescued” by the filing of a frivolous motion (that she makes no mention of in her Initial Brief) and a notice of appeal 19 months after entry of the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment. For these reasons, Gardner's appeal should be dismissed.

## **II. The Trial Court's Rejection of Gardner's Impermissible and Belated Attack on the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment Should Be Affirmed.**

Even if Gardner's appeal is not dismissed by this Court due to the lack of subject matter jurisdiction (and for the reasons stated above it certainly should be), the only order actually being

---

<sup>2</sup> Gardner's filing of her removal action was obviously long after the 30 day deadline required to timely file a notice of removal following service of the Complaint as required by 28 U.S.C § 1446(b)(1).

appealed -- the Order Resetting Property Sale -- should still be affirmed, because Judge Sapp correctly recognized that Gardner was simply attempting to re-litigate the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment by requesting a new trial in opposition to Deutsche Bank's attempt to re-set the Property sale date.

Gardner's attempt to circumvent Judge Sapp's prior rulings in the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment is barred by the long-established "law of the case" doctrine. Under this doctrine, Gardner's undisputed failure to appeal the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment means she "may not seek relief from [this] prior unappealed order of the circuit court because the order has become the law of the case." *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (S.C. 2009) ("Under the law of the case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court."); *see also Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co.*, 255 S.C. 159, 160-61, 177 S.E.2d 544 (S.C. 1970) (holding that an unappealed ruling, whether right or wrong, is the law of the case).

Accordingly the "unappealed [2016 Foreclosure Judgment and Judge Sapp's findings therein as to Deutsche Bank's ability to foreclose] is the law of the case and requires affirmance" of Judge Sapp's Order Resetting Property Sale. *Transportation Ins. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 431, 699 S.E.2d 687, 691 (S.C. 2010) (citing *Charleston Lumber Co., Inc. v. Miller Housing Corp.*, 338 S.C. 171, 175, 525 S.E.2d 869, 871 (S.C. 2000)).

Moreover, it appears Gardner's September 1, 2017 motions request that Judge Sapp order a new trial following the Trial and entry of the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment. However, as she failed to make such a request within ten (10) days of receipt of the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment, Gardner (as with her failure to appeal) is now time-barred from requesting a new trial under either Rules

29(a) or 59(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Nor does she assert there is any newly discovered evidence that would support a new trial under Rule 29(b), which would similarly be time-barred due to her failure to file such motion within one year of receipt of the 2016 Foreclosure Judgment.

For these reasons, Judge Sapp correctly denied Gardner's baseless, improper, and untimely motions, and the Order Resetting Property Sale is thereby due to be affirmed.

**III. Gardner's Initial Brief States No Error By the Trial Court as to the Order Resetting Property Sale, and She Has Thereby Waived Any Challenge To This Order on Appeal.**

As noted above, Gardner filed a notice of appeal to this Court of the Order Resetting Property Sale. However, Gardner tellingly makes no reference to any error by Judge Sapp's ruling with respect to the Order Resetting Property Sale *anywhere* in her Initial Brief.

As a result, any issue Gardner asserts with respect to this order is now deemed abandoned and cannot be considered further on appeal. *See Holly Woods Ass'n of Residence Owners v. Hiller*, 392 S.C. 172, 190 708 S.E.2d 787, 797 (S.C. Ct. App. 2011) ("An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority."); *First Sav. Bank v. Mclean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444, S.E.2d 513, 514 (S.C. 1994) (finding appellant abandoned issue when he failed to provide argument or supporting authority); *Shealy v. Doe*, 370 S.C. 194, 205-206, 634 S.E.2d 45, 51 (S.C. Ct. App. 2006) (refusing to address issue on appeal when appellant failed to cite supporting authority and only made conclusory arguments).

Here, Gardner did not even *mention* the Order Resetting Property Sale in the argument section of her Initial Brief, much less provide any supporting factual basis or legal authority supporting any error by Judge Sapp. The only argument she provides is a rambling and irrelevant recitation of general South Carolina case law addressing various topics including contracts,

guaranties, accounts stated, and summary judgment that have no bearing on the issues on appeal and Judge Sapp's ruling. This is because there was no error by the trial court and this appeal is being used only as an improper mechanism to forestall Deutsche Bank's legal right to sell the Property.

Regardless, Gardner has abandoned any appellate challenge to the Order Resetting Property Sale under well-established South Carolina law, and the trial court's judgment should be affirmed.

#### CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Gardner's appeal should be dismissed due to lack of subject matter jurisdiction, and the trial court's Order Denying Defendant's Objection to Hearing Schedule and Request for Trial Scheduling Order/Motion to Set and Certificate of Readiness For Trial and Order Granting Plaintiff's Request to Re-Set Property for Foreclosure Sale is due to be affirmed.